FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/9/2025
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/8/2025 4:25 PM

No.

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BILLY MILLER,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory C. Link Attorney for Petitioner

Washington Appellate Project 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. Introduction
B. Opinion Below
C. Issues Presented
D. Statement of the Case
E. Argument
1. The Court of Appeals' published opinion vastly expands the admissibility of other acts evidence contrary to the plain language of ER 404 and the Court's decades-long jurisprudence. And the Court of Appeals did so without any authority supporting its sweeping rewrite of the rule
2. The court violated Mr. Miller's constitutional rights to a fair and impartial jury when it allowed Juror 11 to remain on the jury despite her violation of the court's instructions and bias
3. The trial court violated Mr. Miller's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to present a defense when it excluded relevant evidence of other allegations of sexual abuse by children in Reginald and Sharon's foster care 29
F. Conclusion35

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Constitution
U.S. Const. amend. VI
Washington Supreme Court
Alexson v. Pierce County, 186 Wash. 188, 193, 57 P.2d 318 (1936)
State v. Berhe, 193 Wn.2d 647, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019)
State v. Conover, 183 Wn.2d. 706, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015) 15 State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) 31
State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)12, 14, 16, 21
State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010) 31, 34 State v. Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 482 P.3d 913 (2021)
State v. Parnell, 77 Wn.2d 503, 463 P.2d 134 (1969)
State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 655 P.2d 697 (1982) 12, 22 State v. Winborne, 4 Wn. App. 2d 147, 420 P.3d 707 (2018) 22, 23, 26
Washington Court of Appeals
State v. Berniard, 182 Wn. App. 106, 327 P.3d 1290 (2014) 24 State v. Guevara Diaz, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 456 P.3d 869 (2020)
State v. Miller, Wn. App. 3d, 562 P.3d 1281 (2025) 1
United States Supreme Court
Andrew v. White, U.S, 145 S. Ct. 75, 82 (2025) 21 Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L.
Ed. 2d 297 (1973)

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347
(1974)
Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S. 1025, 104 S. Ct. 2885, 91 L. Ed. 2d 847 (1984)23
Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 102 S. Ct. 940, 71 L. Ed. 2d 78 (1982)
Washington Statutes
former RCW 10.58.090
Court Rules
ER 4 0 4

A. Introduction

The jury at Billy Miller's trial heard a substantial amount of other acts evidence of alleged conduct of his co-defendant, himself and other uncharged individuals. The jury was free to use that evidence in whatever manner it chose because the trial court concluded ER 404(b) did not apply to the evidence. What is more the same trial judge permitted a juror to continue serving even after they revealed to the court they had relied on extraneous evidence to reach a conclusion about a jury on their own. And the jury convicted Mr. Miller, after the same judge prevented them from hearing critical evidence Mr. Miller sought to provide them.

The Court of Appeals, in a published opinion, refused to reverse Mr. Miller's convictions. *State v. Miller*, __ Wn. App. 3d __, 562 P.3d 1281 (2025). ¹ Mr. Miller now asks this Court to accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4.

¹ Mr. Miller's appeal was "linked" with the appeal of his co-defendant, Naomi Elaster. Both appellants raised several

B. Opinion Below

Contrary to this Court's long-standing precedent and the plain language of ER 404(b) the trial court allowed jurors to consider, without limitation, a substantial amount of other acts evidence. The trial court reasoned ER 404(b) did not apply to this evidence as the alleged acts occurred in the same period of the acts giving rise to the charges.

After admission of that evidence a jury convicted Mr.

Miller. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals adopted this sweeping rewriting of ER 404(b). Without citing any authority to support is unilateral revision of the rule, the Court of Appeals concludes the limitation on the use of other acts

similar issues. Rather than issue separate opinion addressing the claims in both Mr. Miller and Ms. Elaster's case, the Court of Appeals addressed many of Mr. Miller's claims in the unpublished opinion in Ms. Elaster's case. The court than simply adopted those portions of Ms. Elaster's opinion by reference in its opinion in Mr. Miller's case. Both opinions are included in the appendix.

evidence in ER 404(b) does not apply to other acts alleged to have occurred in the same period as the charged acts.

C. Issues Presented

- 1. Without qualification to when other acts are alleged to have occurred, ER 404(b) substantially limits the admission and use of such evidence at trial. And in all cases, as this Court has made clear, the rule is a categorical bar on the use of such evidence as propensity. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals departs from the plain language of the rule, and this Court's precedent, to conclude the rule does not apply in any way to other acts alleged to have occurred during the same timeframe as the acts at the base of the charged offenses. In doing so the Court of Appeals crafts a broad exception to the rule out of whole cloth. That opinion is contrary to this Court's opinions and substantially burdens a person due process right to a fair trial.
- 2. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee a person a trial before and unbiased juror. A juror is unfit if they

learn highly prejudicial extraneous information that makes it highly unlikely they could set that information aside during their deliberations. Based on their observations of a key defense witness outside the courtroom, a juror concluded the witness had lied in their testimony. Nonetheless, the trial court permitted this biased juror to remain on the jury which convicted Mr. Miller. The Court of Appeals opinion affirming that conviction is contrary to this Court's decision and contrary to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

3. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee a person the right to present evidence in his defense. So long as the evidence is even minimally relevant a court may not exclude it unless the prosecution shows the evidence is so prejudicial that it would disrupt the fairness of the proceedings at trial. The trial court refused to permit Mr. Miller's to present evidence that allegations against him were manufactured and pressured by others. The court excluded evidence the children, as a result of this pressure, had made allegations against others

as well. The Court of Appeals' opinion affirming Mr. Miller's conviction is contrary to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

D. Statement of the Case²

When her children were young, Naomi Elaster, gave custody of her daughters A.M.O. and A.A.O., and sons Adam and Anthony Olsen to her brother Reginald Elaster³, and his partner, Sharon Spears. 3RP 1146.⁴

Several years later Ms. Elaster and her kids reunited they moved into her boyfriend Frank's father's Kent home, while Reginald maintained legal custody. 2RP 620, 628, 994-95; 3RP

² Additional facts are set forth in in Mr. Miller's Brief of Appellant.

³ Many of the parties involved in this case share last names, or their last names were never elicited on the record. For clarity, counsel will refer to everyone except Mr. Miller and Ms. Elaster by their first name.

⁴ The verbatim report of proceedings in this case was prepared by four different transcribers from three different agencies. Each agency's set of transcripts restart at page 1. For clarity, this brief will cite the transcripts prepared by Connie Mianecki as "1RP," by Darlene Brownlee as "2RP," and by Lynda Standlee and Debra Price as "3RP."

166, 299. Reginald and Sharon's periodic checks with the kids revealed they were doing well. 2RP 997.

In the family initial time at the house, two different men, Frank and Curt, lived on the property in a trailer. 3RP 168,192, 194. Eventually Frank purchased another trailer and allowed Anthony to move into it when he turned 16. 3RP 201, 283-84.

Several years later, Ms. Elaster reunited with childhood friend, Mr. Miller. 3RP 1119-20, 1158. Mr. Miller, his estranged wife, Katrina Miller, and Katrina's boyfriend needed a placed to store their belongings. 3RP 195-96, 1158. Mr. Miller and Katrina were in the throes of addiction, and Ms. Elaster wanted to help them. 3RP 195-96. She and Frank invited the three to stay in their yard in temporary shelters. *Id*. But the three were sparingly allowed to use the bathroom in the house. 3RP 202.

Ms. Elaster developed an attraction to Mr. Miller, and the two began seeing each other secretly. 3RP 1160-61, 1195.

When Ms. Elaster told her kids she intended to move in with

Mr. Miller and restart their family with him, the kids were not happy. 3RP 445-47.

Reginald became concerned with the kids' schooling.

2RP 634. He and Ms. Elaster decided the kids should return to live with him and Sharon. 2RP 634-35. Anthony was nearly 18, and he chose to remain in the trailer. 2RP 1001-02.

Although the kids had lived elsewhere, for five years,

Sharon was surprised to find the kids behaving differently. 2RP

1012.

In particular, she found A.M.O. withdrawn and private, spending a lot of time in her room. 2RP 1012. She noticed A.M.O. hitting the younger children, which she had not done previously. *Id*.

Over the course of the next year, she repeatedly asked A.M.O. if anything was wrong with her. 2RP 1027, 1031, 1078. Sharon's pressure escalated when he discovered a story and pictures A.M.O. created involving romantic scenes and

characters inspired by "Slender Man" and other media. 2RP 1013-15. Sharon expressed significant concern about its "illicit" contents. 2RP 255-56, 1030; 3RP 471-73. Neither Reginald nor Ms. Elaster shared Sharon's concerns, and Reginald found the story to be fairly age appropriate. 2RP 755-56, 1029-30.

By the end of the next school year, Sharon decided to have a conversation with all of the children about sex and inappropriate touching. 2RP 1032-34. Following this conversation, A.M.O. told Sharon privately that her mother and Mr. Miller had sexually assaulted her multiple times. 2RP 1035-36; 3RP 773-75. Sharon and Reginald called the police. 2RP 1039-40.

⁵ "Slender Man" is a fictional supernatural horror character. The character created a moral panic when two children stabbed a friend in order to appease Slender Man. Glenn Gaslin, *The Slenderman Legend: Everything you need to know*, CBS News, Mar. 6, 2017 (available at: https://www.cbsnews.com/pictures/the-slenderman-legend-everything-you-need-to-know/).

A.M.O. later told her aunt that her brother, Anthony, had also molested her. CP 50-51. Both A.A.O. and Adam also alleged Anthony had raped and molested them. *Id.* Anthony admitted to some of these acts. *Id.*

Meanwhile, an unrelated younger girls in Sharon's care, M.R., also alleged that an unidentified "monster" used to come at night and touch her. CP 48-49. Sharon believed the child was describing sexual abuse that occurred at her parents' home. CP 46, 48-49. Sharon included them in her guardianship petition for the younger girls. *Id*.

Over the next few years, A.M.O. made an increasing number of allegations, wide-ranging in time and scope, against a number of people. A.M.O. alleged: her mother allowed 10-15 unidentified men to come to the house to touch her chest and vagina; her mother and Mr. Miller molested and raped her 10 or more times; Mr. Miller and her mother had sex in front of her five or more times; and that she had been molested by at least

four other men—Curt, Brian, Clifton Elaster (another uncle), and Frank (an unrelated friend of Anthony's). 2RP 334-35.

A.M.O. alleged her mother called out to her at night to come to her room and directed A.M.O. to undress and lie on the bed while her mother or men touched her. 3RP 692-721.

A.M.O. stated she would sometimes yell or scream during these

incidents. 3RP 746. However, no one else living in the crowded house heard or saw any of this. 3RP 450-51, 952-53.

A.A.O. testified she would sometimes wake to find A.M.O. gone from her bed, but she never looked to see if she was anywhere else in the house. 3RP 584, 586-87. A.A.O. also recalled once hearing her mother speaking with men in her and Frank's bedroom, but did not actually know if A.M.O. was also in the room. 3RP 533-34, 450-51. Adam, who slept in the living room within sight and earshot of the hallway and bedrooms, never saw or heard strangers coming or going from the house in the middle of the night. 3RP 950-51, 53. He also did not hear any screaming. 3RP 952-53, 955.

The State charged Mr. Miller with four counts of rape of a child in the first degree. CP 11-14. It charged Ms. Elaster with one count of child molestation in the first degree and three counts of rape of a child in the first degree. *Id*. The two were tried jointly.

At trial, the court admitted evidence of all the numerous sexual acts A.M.O. claimed she experienced or witnessed involving her mother and/or Mr. Miller. 2RP 424-28. Initially, the court doubted ER 404(b) even applied, concluding these acts were merely proof of the ultimate charged acts, even though Mr. Miller was only charged with 4 counts. *Id.*Alternatively, the court found the evidence was part of a common scheme or plan but did not explain how all of the acts, many of which did not even involve Mr. Miller or behavior rising to the level of the charged offenses, were evidence of the charged acts themselves. *Id.*

The jury convicted Mr. Miller as charged E. Argument

1. The Court of Appeals' published opinion vastly expands the admissibility of other acts evidence contrary to the plain language of ER 404 and the Court's decades-long jurisprudence. And the Court of Appeals did so without any authority supporting its sweeping rewrite of the rule.

Evidence of other acts of the defendant offered solely to prove propensity to commit an offense is not admissible. ER 404(a). This Court has long made clear "[p]roperly understood... ER 404(b) is a categorical bar to the admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character." *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012); *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982).

Here, there is no dispute jurors were presented a substantial amount of evidence of alleged sexual acts other than the four acts the jury unanimously agreed on as the bases for the convictions.

Even though Mr. Miller only faced four charges. The trial court allowed the prosecutor to present evidence of all the

numerous sexual acts A.M.O. claimed she experienced or witnessed involving her mother and/or Mr. Miller. 2RP 424-28. Initially, the court doubted ER 404(b) even applied, concluding these acts were merely proof of the ultimate charged acts, even though Mr. Miller was only charged with four counts. *Id*.

The court reasoned these acts were not "other" acts and thus not subject to the rule at all. Alternatively, the court found the acts were evidence of a "common scheme or plan" exception to ER 404(b).

The Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court's logic that ER 404(b) does not limit the admissibility of other acts evidence alleged to occur during the charging period. Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals cited any authority to support that conclusion.

Both the trial court and Court of Appeals are wrong in concluding conclude this other acts evidence is categorically outside the scope of ER 404.

In *Gresham* this Court struck down a statute which sought to exclude from ER 404 evidence of a person's commission of other sex offenses in a current prosecution for a sex offense. 173 Wn.2d at 426-27 (discussing former RCW 10.58.090). The Court concluded the statute violated the Separation of Powers as it sought to allow propensity evidence which could not be admitted under ER 404(b), violating that rules categorical bar on such evidence. *Id.* at 429. But the opinion in this case ignores the rules categorical bar allowing other acts evidence to be used for whatever purpose the jury wishes, including as propensity evidence. The opinion does so by simply concluding the rule does not apply at all.

Without any citation to legal authority, the opinion concludes ER 404 does not apply to evidence of other acts alleged to have occurred during the same charging period as the

alleged crime. App. at 5. The opinion cites to no authority to support such a reading of the rule. To be sure the rule does not say that. In fact, the words "charging period" appear nowhere in the plain text of ER 404. No Washington case has ever recognized such a cabined definition of the plain term "other crimes, wrongs, or acts." In short, no existing authority has ever concluded a whole class of other acts evidence is freely admissible based solely on a prosecutor's charging decision.

Court rules are interpreted in the same fashion as statutes. *State v. Blilie*, 132 Wn.2d 484, 492, 939 P.2d 691 (1997). Plain terms are not subject to interpretation. *State v. Conover*, 183 Wn.2d. 706, 711, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015). And, the plain meaning of a word can be determined by its dictionary definition. *State v. Barnes*, 189 Wn.2d 492, 495-96, 403 P.3d 72 (2017).

ER 404(b) applies to "other crimes, wrongs, or acts. "Other" means "being the one . . . remaining or not included," or "not the same." https://www.merriam-

webster.com/dictionary/other. Acts which are not among the acts charged as a crime are "not included." Those acts are "not the same" as the acts charged. Those uncharged acts are by definition "other" acts.

In no circumstance may jurors use evidence of other acts as propensity evidence. ER 404(b); Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 420-21. Even when there are multiple charges before a jury, jurors are told their verdict on one charge cannot control their verdict on another. The court provided such an instruction in this case. CP 112 (Instruction 6). It is of little value, and makes no sense, to prevent jurors from relying on other charged acts as propensity yet freely allow them to rely on uncharged allegations occurring during the same period as propensity evidence. If evidence does not form the basis of one of the charges it is by definition an "other" act and is admissible only under the terms of ER 404.6

⁶ The opinion notes the trial court provided a unanimity instruction as required by *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683

Rather than point to any authority supporting its reinterpretation of the rule's plain language, the opinion faults Mr. Miller for "fail[ing] to explain how the trial court *could* have conducted the four-step ER 404(b) analysis, given the factual context here, as the first step is for the proponent to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the act occurred." App. at 5. This is not a new rule. Nor is it sparingly applied. The trial court can go about the analysis the same way it does in every other case involving other acts evidence. It could conduct a hearing, prior to trial or otherwise outside the presence of the jury, at which the court could determine by a preponderance the alleged acts occurred. The court would then identify a proper purpose, if any, for the evidence, and how that purpose is relevant to any element of the crime. And if the court determined the evidence was admissible, it would instruct the

P.2d 173 (1984). App. at 5, n1. But that instruction only required jurors unanimously agree on one act for each of the four charges. The instruction does nothing to prevent them from using all the other evidence as propensity evidence.

jury on its limited use of the evidence. There is nothing unique about this case. The rule is applied in this fashion all the time.

The Opinion insists "the State only used the evidence of various acts of abuse by Miller to satisfy its burden to prove the elements of charged crimes" App. at 6. But that is no answer. First, no one told the jury they could not use the evidence of other acts as propensity or for any other purpose the jury wished. Simply saying the jury only relied on the other acts evidence as proof of the elements, does not solve the problem. It still violates ER 404(b) if the jury used the other acts evidence as propensity in determining whether the State proved the elements of the charge. And that is the likely use the jury put the evidence to, as no one told jurors they could not by way of a limiting instruction.

The trial court did not provide a limiting instruction because it concluded ER 404(b) did not even apply to these other acts. As far as the trial court was concerned, there was no

reason to think it should limit the jury's consideration of that evidence. And so the court did not.

The same is true of evidence of other acts by Ms. Elaster admitted at the joint trial. Just as with the evidence of Mr. Miller's other acts evidence the Court of Appeals assures itself the jury could not have used the evidence against Mr. Miller. App. at 4. The opinion reasons that is so because the evidence of Ms. Elaster's other acts "were not admitted for use against him." *Id.* But no one told the jury that.

And no one told the jury that, because the trial court had no reason to believe it needed to having already concluded ER 404(b) did not apply at all. The Court of Appeals agrees with the trial court's conclusion that ER 404(b) does not even apply. With that conclusion there is no reason to think the trial court made any effort to limit the jury's use of the evidence of Ms. Elaster's other acts to only the determining her guilt.

The opinion reasons that jurors were instructed their "verdict on one count as to one defendant should not control

[its] verdict on any other court or as to any other defendant." App. at 4. But that instruction speaks only of the jury's "verdict" one count. That instruction says nothing about the jury's use of evidence of each defendant's acts. Jurors were not told they could not rely on evidence of Ms. Elaster's acts as propensity in assessing the credibility of witnesses, resolving conflicts in testimony, or simply as evidence that Mr. Miller committed the four acts supporting the charges against him. That limitation was never provided because the trial court concluded ER 404(b) does not apply. Thus, there was no reason for the trial court to limit juror's us of the evidence. If ER 404(b) does not apply jurors are free use that evidence for whatever purpose jurors saw fit.

While the trial court offered an alternative basis for admission of the evidence, as proof of a common scheme or plan. As set forth in Mr. Miller's briefing to the Court of Appeals the trial court improperly admitted the evidence for that purpose. The Court of Appeals seemingly agrees, the Court

of Appeals does not address that alternative basis, resting its opinion entirely on its sweeping conclusion that ER 404(b) does not apply at all.

Under the expansive exception the Court of Appeals crafts in this published opinion the "categorical" prohibition on propensity evidence vanishes. Without pointing to any legal authority to support its conclusion the Court of Appeals concludes the rule does not really mean what its plain language says. That conclusion is irreconcilable with *Gresham*.

Applied by its plain terms, ER 404(b) can ameliorate the misuse of such highly prejudicial evidence. The Court of Appeals' wholesale allowance of prejudicial other acts evidence renders trials fundamentally unfair contrary to the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause. *Andrew v. White*, __ U.S. __, 145 S. Ct. 75, 82 (2025).

The opinion's rewriting of a regularly employed rule of evidence is an issue of substantial public importance.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4.

2. The court violated Mr. Miller's constitutional rights to a fair and impartial jury when it allowed Juror 11 to remain on the jury despite her violation of the court's instructions and bias.

The federal and state constitution's guarantee an accused person the right to due process and to a trial before a fair and impartial jury. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; *State v. Guevara Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 851, 456 P.3d 869 (2020). "Due process means a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it, and a trial judge must ever be watchful to prevent prejudicial occurrences and to determine the effect of such occurrences when they happen." *State v. Winborne*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 147, 160, 420 P.3d 707 (2018) (citing *Smith v. Phillips*, 455 U.S. 209, 102 S. Ct. 940, 71 L. Ed. 2d 78 (1982)).

"An 'impartial jury' means 'an unbiased and unprejudiced jury,' and allowing bias or prejudice by even one juror to be a factor in the verdict violates a defendant's constitutional rights and undermines the public's faith in the

fairness of our judicial system." State v. Berhe, 193 Wn.2d 647, 658, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019) (quoting Alexson v. Pierce County, 186 Wash. 188, 193, 57 P.2d 318 (1936)); see also Winborne, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 157.

A jury must reach its verdict based only on the court's instructions and the evidence offered at trial. *Winborne*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at 160 (citing *Patton v. Yount*, 467 U.S. 1025, 1037 n.12, 104 S. Ct. 2885, 91 L. Ed. 2d 847 (1984)). A jury cannot reach its decision based on any extraneous sources of information. *Id.* "A trial by a jury where even one member is biased or prejudiced is not a constitutional trial. *State v. Parnell*, 77 Wn.2d 503, 507, 463 P.2d 134 (1969), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Fire*, 145 Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001). "There should be no lingering doubt" whether a defendant received a fair trial. *Parnell*, 77 Wn.2d at 508.

A court's independent and ongoing obligation to ensure an impartial jury includes the obligation to dismiss unfit jurors

during trial. *State v. Berniard*, 182 Wn. App. 106, 117, 327 P.3d 1290 (2014).

Mr. Miller presented witnesses who lived in or around the Kent home during the charging period and did not observe anything of concern. A.M.O.'s alder brother, Adam, offered key testimony he never heard or saw any of the alleged events or noticed any strangers coming and going from the house. 3RP 950-55. His testimony was central to Mr. Miller's defense and showed little opportunity for the abuse A.M.O. described to happen without anyone else noticing

The morning Adam testified, Juror 11 had seen him driving in a parking lot and parking his car. 3RP 1064. When Adam later testified, he stated he did not have a driver license and did not drive anywhere. 3RP 969. The next morning, Juror 11 told the court she believed a witness had lied, and revealed what she had seen. 3RP 1060-64.

The defense argued the court had to remove Juror 11 because of her having determined Adam's credibility based on

extraneous evidence. 3RP 1066-67, 1068. The court refused to do so because another juror had called in sick and had to be excused, using up the last available alternate. 3RP 1070-71, 1073-75.

The defense continued to object because that extraneous information was "central to defense's case" specifically Adam's credibility. 3RP 1066. The defense emphasized what Juror 11 saw went "straight to the credibility of the witness," and argued it would be "humanly impossible" for this juror to set aside the fact belief that a Adam lied on the stand. 3RP 1066, 1068.

Nevertheless, the court seemed more concerned about the lack of alternate jurors. It noted, "So if I do excuse this juror, we're in recess for at least today and for who knows how long because I don't know if we're getting Juror 9 back." 3RP 1070. Counsel for Ms. Elaster stated that the proper remedy under these circumstances would be to dismiss the juror to prevent contaminating the other jurors, but the court responded, "That's true, but for the fact we only have twelve jurors and one juror

reported in sick today, and there's no indication they're coming back." 3RP 1073-74. The court was deeply concerned about a mistrial due to insufficient jurors. 3RP 1074.

Instead of excusing Juror 11, the court merely asked her if she could set her preformed opinion aside and consider the case independent of her extraneous knowledge. 3RP 1075. The court allowed her to remain on the jury.

Here, a juror believed a defense witness – one whose credibility was critical to Mr. Miller's case – had lied on the stand and became concerned enough to notify the court. She reached that conclusion before trial had concluded, contrary to the court's instructions. And more concerning, she reached that conclusion based on information that was not presented at trial. Primarily concerned about a mistrial because no alternate jurors remained, the court allowed this juror to remain on the jury.

Just like in *Winborne*, Juror 11 had knowledge of and relied on facts she obtained outside of trial to reach conclusions regarding issues at trial. In *Winborne* it was merely possible the

juror might rely on their own observations to draw conclusion regarding the events. Here, Juror 11 left no doubt. They expressed their view to the court, based on outside facts; that a witness lied under oath. And they did so despite the court's clear instruction not to. At the outset of trial the court instructed the jury they could only consider facts presented during trial. RP 494.

The Court of Appeals concludes, because the court admonished the juror to disregard what she had done and the opinion she had formed. Brief of Respondent at 25-26. But that ignores the fact that Juror 11 had already violated the court's preliminary instruction that they could only consider evidence offered in trial. And it ignores the fact the juror had ignored that same instruction that they not reach a conclusion as to any matter until the jury as a whole deliberated.

The juror not only reached a conclusion prior to deliberation, i.e. the witness lied. The jury based that conclusion on facts outside the evidence. The opinion brushes

aside the undisputed fact that the jury had reached a conclusion. App. at 19-20. Instead, the Court focuses entirely on a small portion of that instruction which told jurors "[i]f you become aware that you or another juror has been exposed to outside information, please privately notify [the bailiff]. Don't discuss the matter with other jurors." *Id.* at 20.

The juror's compliance with that single portion of the instruction does not answer the question. The juror did what they were supposed to do. The problem is how the trial court responded and its failure to grapple with the fact the juror had reached a conclusion prior to deliberation and had done so from extraneous information. The trial court missed the point when it said the juror had done nothing wrong. RP 1069. It does not matter whether those extraneous facts were obtained purposefully or by happenstance. What matters is that the juror had formed an opinion based on those facts, and had done so in violation of the court's instructions.

Having disregarded the instruction once, there is no reason to presume they would follow the court's instruction in the future. There is no reason to believe their assurance to do so is credible in the face of their demonstrated noncompliance with the court's prior instructions.

The opinion of the Court of Appeal is contrary to this Court's opinions. The opinion denies Mr. Miller a constitutionally adequate trial by an unbiased jury. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4.

3. The trial court violated Mr. Miller's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to present a defense when it excluded relevant evidence of other allegations of sexual abuse by children in Reginald and Sharon's foster care.

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