FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/6/2025 10:03 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 104047-4

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BILLY MILLER,

Petitioner.

#### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

GAVRIEL JACOBS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

###

#### A. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED<sup>1</sup></u>

Did the Court of Appeals correctly conclude that sexual misconduct does not fall under ER 404(b) when it constitutes the *actus reus* of the charged crime?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The State relies on the facts previously discussed in the Brief of Respondent and the Court of Appeals' partially published opinion affirming Miller's conviction, *State v. Miller*, 33 Wn. App. 2d 560, 562 P.3d 1281 (2025).

#### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State rests on its briefing and the reasoning in the Court of Appeals' opinion to answer the other bases on which Miller seeks this Court's review.

the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

Miller asks this Court to accept review based on an alleged conflict between *Miller* and cases analyzing ER 404(b). Pet. for Rev. at 3. This Court should deny review because Miller is fundamentally mistaken in concluding that ER 404(b) applies to these facts. The Court of Appeals' reasoning is consistent with both longstanding practice and sound public policy.

ER 404(b) prohibits the admission of "other" acts "for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion." "Other" acts must, as a matter of common sense, be uncharged conduct as opposed to an element of the charged offense. In this case, however, Miller's sexual abuse of the victim constituted "acts within the charging period that could support any of the four charged counts of rape of a child in the first degree." *Miller*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 565. These were not "other" acts, but the *actus reus* of the crimes charged in the information.

Miller has not identified any Washington precedent applying ER 404(b) under these circumstances. He relies on *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 414, 269 P.3d 207 (2012), and *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 360, 655 P.2d 697 (1982), both of which involved the admission of sexual misconduct previously perpetrated against uncharged victims. Pet. for Rev. at 12, 21; *Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d at 415-18; *Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d at 360. This is a classic scenario in which ER 404(b) applies, but it is not one that occurred in Miller's case.

Contrary to Miller's position, this Court has observed that "evidence of other uncharged sexual misconduct may be admissible *as part of the crime itself* in appropriate cases." *State v. Crossguns*, 199 Wn.2d 282, 294, 505 P.3d 529 (2022) (emphasis added). This makes sense, as Washington courts have long recognized that resident child abuse cases often involve long charging periods in which young victims will have difficulty recalling specific dates and times. *See generally State v. Hayes*, 81 Wn. App. 425, 435-38, 914 P.2d 788 (1996) (affirming four counts of child rape based on generic testimony that assaults occurred "at least 'four times' and some '[t]wo or three times a week' between July 1, 1990 and May 31, 1992").

Miller suggests that the State's evidence should be strictly limited by the number of counts—that is, if four counts are charged, only four acts can be described without implicating ER 404(b). Pet. for Rev. at 16. But if this were the rule there would be no need for *Petrich*<sup>2</sup> instructions, which are a wellestablished component of Washington trial practice. Instead, courts have long recognized that prosecutors may present evidence of multiple acts that could constitute the crime charged and the jury then determines which have been proven

- 4 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984).

beyond a reasonable doubt. See generally In re Pers. Restraint of Mulamba, 199 Wn.2d 488, 507, 508 P.3d 645 (2022).

Miller's proposed application of ER 404(b) would also be poor policy. The type of pre-trial election Miller presumably envisions will often be impractical in serial abuse cases, where "[t]o require [the victim] to pinpoint the exact dates of oftrepeated incidents of sexual contact would be contrary to reason." *Hayes*, 81 Wn. App. at 436 (internal quotation marks omitted). The more likely result, as the Court of Appeals predicted, would be for prosecutors to charge as many counts as possible to ensure all relevant evidence is admitted. *Miller*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 566. This is an outcome that would not benefit anyone.

#### D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Miller's petition for review.

# I certify this document contains 796 words, excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.

DATED this 6th day of May, 2025.

Respectfully submitted,

LEESA MANION (she/her) King County Prosecuting Attorney

By: <u>Havriel Jacob</u> GAVRIEL JACOBS WSBA #46394

GAVRIEL JACOBS WSBA #46394 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

#### KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

#### May 06, 2025 - 10:03 AM

#### **Transmittal Information**

Filed with Court:Supreme CourtAppellate Court Case Number:104,047-4Appellate Court Case Title:State of Washington v. Billy Clyde Miller

#### The following documents have been uploaded:

 1040474\_Answer\_Reply\_20250506100141SC073739\_6098.pdf This File Contains: Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review The Original File Name was 104047-4 STATES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

#### A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- greg@washapp.org
- wapofficemai@washapp.org
- wapofficemail@washapp.org

#### **Comments:**

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov Filing on Behalf of: Gavriel Gershon Jacobs - Email: gavriel.jacobs@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email: )

Address: King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20250506100141SC073739